IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ANGELA WESTBROOKS SMITH

APPELLANT

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2010-WC-01875-COA

TRONOX CORPORATION, LLC, SELF-INSURED

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

LAWRENCE J. HAKIM (MS BAR NO. CHARLIE BAGLAN & ASSOCIATES ATTORNEYS AT LAW 100 PUBLIC SQUARE POST OFFICE BOX 1289 BATESVILLE, MISSISSIPPI 38606 TELEPHONE NUMBER: (662) 563-9400 TELEFAX: (662)563-4633 E-MAIL: info@baglanlaw.com Attorneys for Appellant

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ANGELA WESTBROOKS SMITH

APPELLANT

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2010-WC-01875-COA

TRONOX CORPORATION, LLC, SELF-INSURED

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- The Order of the Commission regarding the extent of Appellant's permanent disability attributable to her work related bi-lateral carpal tunnel syndrome is too low in view of the overwhelming lay and medical facts and testimony.
- 2. That Appellant has sustained permanent disability/industrial loss of use of her bilateral extremities far in excess of five percent.
- 3. Alternatively Appellant is permanently and totally disabled as a result of her bilateral upper extremity work injuries.
- 4. The Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission's finding that Appellant was temporarily and totally disabled from April 2, 2002 to October 27, 2003, was based on substantial evidence, and was not arbitrary or capricious, and was not erroneous as a matter of law.
- 5. The Circuit Court of Monroe County improperly upset the findings of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission with regard to the issue of Appellant's period of temporary total disability, which findings of the Commission were based on substantial evidence and were not arbitrary or capricious.

v

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION BELOW

Appellant, Angela Smith, ("Angela") filed her B5-11 alleging bi-lateral work-related carpal tunnel syndrome injuries, beginning in December, 2000. The claims were denied by the Employer, and no indemnity or medical benefits were paid. On June 7, 2007, a hearing was held on this claim before Honorable Tammy Harthcock at the Oktibbeha County Courthouse in Starkville, Mississippi.

At hearing the parties stipulated to the following:

- 1. Angela's average weekly wage was \$845.48.
- 2. That Angela reached maximum medical improvement, October 28, 2003.

The following issues were raised for Her Honor's determination and judgment:

- Whether or not Angela had work-related bi-lateral carpal tunnel syndrome beginning on or about December, 2000.
- Assuming compensability is found in Angela's favor, the existence and extent of

 a.) temporary disability; and b.) permanent disability.¹

On August 21, 2007, Judge Harthcock rendered her Order of the Administrative Judge. In said Order, Judge Harthcock found that Angela had met her burden of proof that her bi-lateral carpal tunnel syndrome was work related; that there was insufficient evidence to determine the existence and extent of temporary disability; and that Appellant sustained a 5% industrial loss of use to each of her upper extremities based upon the evidence as a whole. Angela subsequently and timely appealed solely on the issue of the extent of permanent disability *vis-a-vis* industrial

¹ At hearing the Employer did not raise as an issue, or otherwise contest separately, the reasonableness and necessity of medical treatment Angela received for her bi-lateral carpal tunnel syndrome, or the Employer's ultimate responsibility for same.

loss of use of the bi-lateral extremities. Significantly, the Employer neither appealed or crossappealed from the Order of the Administrative Judge, nor raised as an issue any portion of the Order of Administrative Judge.

On or about April 15, 2008, the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission entered its Full Commission Order, and a.) unanimously affirmed the Angela's bi-lateral 5% industrial loss of use to her bi-lateral upper extremities, and b.) found that Angela was temporarily and totally disabled from the date of her surgery, April 2, 2002, until the date the parties stipulated she reached maximum medical improvement from the bi-lateral upper extremity injuries, which was October 27, 2003. Therefore, the Full Commission unanimously ordered the Appellant to pay temporary total disability benefits for that period, with interest and a 10% penalty as provided by law.

On or about May 15, 2008, the Employer filed its Notice of Appeal of Full Commission Order and on or about May 20, 2008, Angela filed her Notice of Cross-Appeal of Full Commission Order.

On or about October 27, 2010, the Circuit Court of Monroe County issued its Order affirming the Commission on the issues of causation and permanent disability, but reversed the Commission's award of temporary total disability on the purported grounds that same was not supported by substantial evidence and was an arbitrary and capricious finding. Said Order was filed November 1, 2010, and on November 10, 2010, Angela timely filed her Notice of Appeal.

B. SUMMARY OF THE FACTS

Claimant, Angela Smith, ("Angela"), was born in Amory, Mississippi, August 6, 1959. (R. 6) Angela's education is limited to a GED she received in 1983. She has had no other additional schooling or education. (R. 7) Angela has two adult sons. (Id.) Angela's work experience is extremely limited: she worked at Wal-Mart from 1976 to 1987 as a cashier, department manager and in customer service. (Id.) Angela began work with the Employer herein, August, 1989. (R. 8) The Employer is a chemical plant that manufacturers paint pigment in Hamilton, Mississippi. (Id.) Angela testified as follows concerning her work duties:

"When I first started in 89, I started in the pigment plant, what they call unit 400, where they did the bagging. I think we was like -- it was 50 -- pound bags. We had to bag the machine. In that department it is a start -- we had the machines -- we have to put the bags on the spout so -- and mash -- the machine, it would fill the bags. We use it and we take it and we pull, and it would roll down the conveyor. -- on one day, I can't remember exactly how we switched up, I want to say you know, I bagged for a day, it was a few on the other end that lift them off to the conveyor or on to a pallet. But we switched up, and I can't remember did we switch up on a daily basis or so many hours from bagging to stacking the 55 bags off the conveyor. They came out the conveyor -- off the bag machine on the conveyor and we kind of like weigh them, when you get to the end and you take them and fill them on the pallet."

(R. 8-9) Angela would have to lift over five 50 pound bags per hour at over 10 per hour.

(R. 9-10) Angela was transferred out of Unit 400 to Unit 300 in the early 1990's and became a

sand operator. (R. 10) Angela described that position as follows:

"The sand operator was mostly responsible for -- really we had a sand -- at that time we had a sand man that we had to make sure we kept filled. And the sand man was -- it was 50 pounds -- I want to say 50 or 100 -- pound bags that we had to take, but we didn't get -- we had a conveyor -- we was standing on a platform and a conveyor to lift the bags up to us. So we have to reach the bags and just carry them, just a little bit from the pallet to the bend and cut them open to empty them."

(R. 10) Angela's duties in this position also included the following:

"Go up to the catcher -- a chlorine acid sample, chlorine tanks. And also catch chlorine samples just like a gas, but the acid sample you would have to take the bag and take the acid out of it. They had to get that to the lab."

"The value was on it, just maybe a turn value, just a handle and we have to, you know -- sometimes you would have to pull just the scrubbers, the acid scrubbers, they have the value -- the reactor, ..." (R. 11-12)

Also, Angela testified that the valves and wheels that she had to turn in the sampling process were stiff and difficult to operate. (Id.)

"Some was, you know, maybe rusted or the acid, corrosion. And, you know, some, you know, I have really had to take maybe put my whole weight on some if it was up top to open or get -- I usually look on the ground. If I found a piece of iron or steel, or what, I would take it and maybe say like beat it open." (R. 12-13)

While on the job in unit 300 Angela first began experiencing numbress, weakness and lack of grip strength the latter part of 1999 and early 2000. (R. 14) Angela is right hand dominant. (Id.)

Angela reported her upper extremity problems to the plant nurse, Patsy Fredrick. (R. 15) Despite her reporting these problems, the plant did not do anything about this, do an investigation, take proactive steps, or send Angela to a physician.² (R. 15)

Angela was already on medical leave due to an unrelated back and neck condition when she finally first sought medical treatment with Dr. Laura Gray, a medical doctor, located in Tupelo, Mississippi, and specializing in physical medicine and rehabilitation. (R. 18) Dr. Gray eventually referred Angela to Dr. Robert Buckley, who performed a carpal tunnel release on her right hand. (R. 18-19) Because Angela did not receive a good result from the right sided release, she did not undergo a release for her left upper extremity. (R. 19) Dr. Buckley referred Angela back to Dr. Laura Gray, who at the time of the hearing was continuing to treat Angela for her bi-

² Angela did testify that she never requested medical treatment from Patsy Fredrick, or discuss medical treatment with anyone else at the Employer herein. (R. 16)

lateral upper extremity work injuries, as well as for other problems. $(R. 20)^3$ Neither Dr. Buckley, nor Dr. Laura Gray, returned Angela back to work with the Employer herein.⁴ (R. 21)

Angela candidly testified that she did not attempt to return back to work because she had filed for social security disability, and a doctor the Social Security Administration had sent her to, after testing her hands and after performing an examination, told her she would not be able to return to work. (R. 23)

Angela continues to have numbress and tingling, particularly in her left upper extremity. She still continues to have symptoms of pain in her right upper extremity. (R. 26) She experiences difficulty gripping objects such as the telephone, skillet, etc. Her hands feel weak and her fingers cramp.⁵ (Id.)

The only work Angela has performed since leaving the Employer herein as been as a substitute school bus driver and this work has been very sporadic. (R. 28-29) Angela testified credibly and without rebuttal that she did not believe she could return to work with the Employer or perform any of her prior work at Wal-Mart, due to the current condition of her hands. (R. 29-30, 34)⁶

On cross-examination the plant nurse, Patsy Fredrick admitted that she could not testify definitively that the Employer would have accommodated Dr. Laura Gray's restrictions on a long term basis and further agreed that repetitive use of the hands and wrist is an essential function of some jobs at Kerr-Magee. (R. 65)

³ Because Angela was already off work for other medical problems, neither Dr. Laura Gray, nor Dr. Robert Buckley had to take Angela off work for the bi-lateral upper extremity injuries. (R. 20-21)

⁴ Angela had surgery for a brain aneurism, May, 2001.

⁵ The evidence shows that Angela was placed under restrictions for an unrelated condition by Dr. Walter Eckman and the Employer could not or would not accommodate those restrictions. (R. 28)

Notably the Employer did not put on any vocational evidence to show what, if any, work was available to Angela.

The Employer called Mr. Michael Goldman, who is a staff safety specialist. Mr. Goldman essentially testified that Angela's description of the work she performed and how she performed it were accurate. (R. 76)

C. SUMMARY OF THE MEDICAL EVIDENCE

Angela first saw Tupelo, Mississippi, Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation Specialist, Laura Gray, M.D., December 7, 2000, upon referral from Dr. Walter Eckman. Dr. Gray diagnosed Angela with cervical brachial syndrome, lumbar radiculopathy, and questionable dysesthetic pain at C6, C7 and C8. Dr. Gray eventually diagnosed Angela with bi-lateral carpal tunnel syndrome.

Dr. Gray tried to treat the bi-lateral CTS conservatively, but this failed and she eventually referred Angela to Dr. Richard Buckley.

Dr. Robert Buckley performed a right CTS release on or about April 5, 2002. Because Angela did not obtain a satisfactory result, she chose not to proceed with the left CTS release Dr. Buckley had recommended and Dr. Buckley referred her back to Dr. Gray.

Dr. Gray continued to treat Angela up to the time of hearing. Her deposition was taken and she testified based on hypotheticals posed, that Angela's bi-lateral carpal tunnel syndrome was caused and/or significantly contributed to by the work she performed for the Employer herein. Dr. Gray placed 3% bi-lateral upper extremity ratings and placed permanent work restrictions of no repetitive motion with the hands and no lifting over 10 lbs. due to the bi-lateral CTS. It was Dr. Gray's opinion that Angela continued to suffer from carpal tunnel syndrome.⁷

⁷ The medical depositions of Orthopedic Surgeons Johnny Mitias and Charles Rhea were also taken. Dr. Mitias saw Angela at the request of the employer for a one-time Employer Medical Examination, and he did not attempt to render any medical treatment to Angela. Dr. Mitias did not place any rating or restrictions on Angela and could not rule out Claimant's work as a contributing factor in her bi-lateral CTS. Dr. Rhea treated Claimant briefly in 1995

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Mississippi Workers' Compensation Act should be interpreted liberally and any doubt regarding the sufficiency of the evidence should be resolved in favor of the Claimant with the benefit of the doubt going to the Claimant.

While the Commission correctly found that Angela sustained permanent disability to her bi-lateral upper extremities as a result of her work injury, the Commission erred in its finding of the extent of same. Based on the overwhelming facts and medical evidence, as well as case law, the Commission should have found Angela sustained greater than five percent (5%) loss of use with regard to her bi-lateral upper extremities. Based upon the lay and medical testimony and evidence of record, the proof would support a finding that Angela is in fact permanently and totally disabled as a result of her work injuries.

Assuming arguendo that Angela is not permanently and totally disabled as a result of her work injury, the Commission correctly found that Claimant sustained a period of temporary total disability as a result of her work injuries. The Commission has the discretionary power and authority to make such a finding and need not rely exclusively on the medical records and the reports to make same.

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Mississippi Workers' Compensation Act must be applied liberally so that the beneficent aspects of the act are met and to that end, doubtful cases should be resolved in favor of the Claimant. <u>South Central Bell Telephone Cop. v. Aden</u>, 474 So. 2d 584 (Miss. 1985); <u>Barham v. Klumb Forrest Products Center, Inc.</u>, 453 So. 2d 1300 (Miss. 1984)

and could not state whether the CTS she was diagnosed with in 1995 was the same CTS she developed in 2000. He further testified that her complaints and symptoms could have been coming from her neck.

Moreover, if any doubt exists regarding sufficiency medical evidence, the benefit of the doubt goes to the Claimant. <u>Siemens Energy & Automation, Inc. v. Pickens</u>, 76 So. 2d 276 (Miss.); <u>Mueller Copper Tube Cop.</u> v. Upton, 930 So. 2d 428 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005).

B. ANGELA SMITH HAS SUSTAINED PERMANENT DISABILITY TO HER BI-LATERAL UPPER EXTREMITIES BEYOND THE 5% FOUND BY THE MISSISSIPPI WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

To establish entitlement to benefits under workers' compensation, Angela bears the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence each of the following elements of the claim:

- 1. An accidental injury occurred;
- 2. Arising out of and in the course of employment, and;
- 3. A causal connection between the injury and claimed disability.

Hedge v. Leggett & Platt, Inc., 641 So. 2d. 9, 13 (Miss. 1994).

The Commission's Order properly resolved the elements in favor of Angela. The law in this state on worker's compensation claims is that even though the testimony may be somewhat ambiguous as to causal connection all that is necessary is that the medical findings support a causal connection. <u>Moore v. Ind. Life and Accid. Inc., Co.</u>, 788 So. 2d. 106, 112 (Miss. 2001).⁸

Medical evidence is to be given liberal construction, with doubtful cases resolved in favor of compensation, and the Commission is called upon to apply "common knowledge, common experience and common sense", when weighing the evidence. <u>Janssen Pharmaceutical, Inc. v.</u> <u>Stuart</u>, 856 So. 2d. 431 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003).

⁸ As noted above, the Employer accepted Judge Harthcock's resolution of all issues and did <u>not</u> appeal or crossappeal from her Order of Administrative Judge.

Unless common knowledge suffices, medical evidence must prove not only the existence of a disability, but also its causal connection to employment. Bradley and Thompson, <u>Workers'</u> <u>Compensation Law</u>, §76:53 in 9 Ency. Miss. Law, at 182-184. While medical evidence must support Angela's incapacity and its extent, the fact of disability need not be proven entirely by medical evidence. <u>Hall of Miss., Inc. v. Green</u>, 467 So. 2d. 935 (Miss. 1985). The Medical evidence is sufficient if it supports, but does not fully prove, a finding of disability. <u>Id.</u>

Angela respectfully submits however that the Commission erred in finding that she had *only* sustained a 5% disability to her upper extremities. Under Mississippi Law, an injured employee suffering a partial loss of use, (partial impairment), of a scheduled member is entitled to the same partial benefits as provided for total loss of use of the member under certain circumstances. Bradley and Thompson Mississippi Workers' Compensation §5:44 explains:

This occurs if the evidence shows that partial loss of use causes the worker to be unable to perform substantial acts of the worker's usual occupation. The inability to perform this substantial work activity demonstrates that the actual occupational effect of this partial impairment has substantially the same effect as total loss of use of the member.

Id. citing McGowan v. Orlean's Furniture, Inc., 586 So. 2d 163 (Miss.1991)

The law may be summarized as follows:

If a partial impairment of a scheduled-member causes the worker to be unable to perform substantial acts required in the worker's usual occupation, benefits for the permanent injury are not limited to the proportion of medical or functional impairment of the scheduled-member. Instead, the extent of loss of use of the member of the worker's usual occupation is the greatest factor in deciding whether the worker has lost all, or only part of the use of the member. From all of the evidence-impairment and occupational impact-the decision is made whether the partial impairment has substantially the same effect on the worker's ability to perform the usual occupation as total loss of use of the member.

Id. (citations omitted) Thus, the key test to determine loss of use is whether the injured

worker can perform the substantial acts required of her in the performance of her job. Id.

Apparently the Commission limited Angela to 5% industrial loss of use bi-laterally due to the fact that Angela had been off work for unrelated medical conditions, had worked for a short time as a substitute bus driver, and had not looked for other work. Under Mississippi Law, none of these factors, individually, or in concert serve as a sufficient basis to limit Angela to 5% industrial loss of use. To the contrary, Angela's unrebutted testimony, as corroborated by the Employer's witness, Patsy Frederick, is that the essential functions, (i.e. substantial acts), of Angela's work with this Employer are the very types of activities Angela was permanently restricted from performing per Dr. Laura Gray. Moreover, Angela provided credible and unrebutted testimony that the permanent work restrictions placed on her bi-lateral upper extremities, by Dr. Laura Gray, due to her work related injuries, similarly precluded her from returning to any of her other work, including work she had performed in the distant past with Wal-Mart. In short, Angela put on overwhelming evidence that due to her work related injury and disability resulting from same she was totally precluded from performing the substantial acts of any of her pre-injury employment. Therefore, under the holdings of either Meridian Professional Baseball Club v. Jensen, 828 So. 2d 740 (Miss. 2002), or Weatherspoon v. Croft Metals, Inc., 853 So. 2d 776 (Miss. 2003), Angela has clearly met the loss of use test with regard to the substantial acts of her employment regardless of how the term "usual employment" is interpreted.

To the extent the Commission considered Angela's job search or alleged lack thereof as a *negative* factor in determining loss of use, such a consideration is plain error. The irrelevance and non-necessity of a job search in determining industrial loss of use is clearly established:

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