# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

### ANGELA WESTBROOK SMITH

#### **APPELLANT**

VS.

CAUSE NUMBER 2010-WC-01875-COA 🚺

# TRONOX INCORPORATED(SUCCESSOR OF KERR-MCGEE CHEMICAL, LLC) AND ACE AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY

APPELLEES

Employer/Appellee

## CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following list of persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of

the Court of Appeals may evaluate the possibility of disqualification or recusal.

- 1.
   Angela Westbrook Smith
   Claimant/Appellant

   1009 114<sup>th</sup> Street
   Amory, MS 38821

STATEMENT OF THE CASE
I.Nature of the Case and Course of Proceedings2II.Statement of Relevant Facts7
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT AND LAW
<ul> <li>I. Standard of review</li></ul>
III. The circuit court was correct that the commission's decision regarding permanent disability is supported by the substantial weight of the evidence 20
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

# **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

# STATE CASES

- --

. - .

- - -

- - -

. . .

Adolphe Lafont USA, Inc. v. Ayers, 958 So.2d 833 (Miss.App.2007) 20
Boyd v. Miss. Workers' Compensation Self-Insurers Guaranty Assoc., 919 So.2d 163 (Miss.App. 2005)
Fought v. Stuart C. Irby Co., 523 So.2d 314 (Miss. 1988)
Harrell v. Time Warner/Capitol Cablevision, 856 So.2d 503 (Miss.App. 2003) 16
Howard Indus. v. Robinson, 846 So.2d 245 (Miss.App. 2002)
Kersh v. Greenville Sheet Metal Works, 192 So.2d 266 (Miss.1966)
<i>KLLM, Inc. v. Fowler</i> , 589 So.2d 670 (Miss. 1991)
McGowan v. Orleans Furniture, Inc., 586 So.2d 163 (Miss.1991)
<i>Olen Burrage Trucking Co. v. Chandler</i> , 475 So.2d 437 (Miss. 1985)
Pilate v. Int'l Plastics Corp., 727 So.2d 771 (Miss.App. 1999)
Robinson v. Packard Elec. Div., General Motors Corp., 523 So.2d 329 (Miss. 1988) 21
Smith v. Container General Corp., 559 So.2d 1019 (Miss. 1990)
Strickland v. M. H. McMath Gin, Inc., 457 So.2d 925 (Miss. 1984)
Total Transp., Inc. of Miss. v. Shores, 968 So.2d 400 (Miss. 2007)
Wagner v. Hancock Med. Ctr., 825 So.2d 703 (Miss.App. 2002)
Walker Mfg. Co. v. Butler, 740 So.2d 315 (Miss.App. 1998) 16, 21
Walker Mfg. Co. v. Cantrell, 577 So.2d 1243 (Miss. 1991)
Weatherspoon v. Croft Metals, Inc., 853 So.2d 776 (Miss. 2003)

# STATUTES AND OTHER AUTHORITIES

Dunn, Mississippi Workmen's	Compensation §86 (3rd	<sup>1</sup> ed. 1990)	21
-----------------------------	-----------------------	------------------------	----

52 '51	Miss. Code Ann. §71-3-37(11) (1972)
16' 51	Miss. Code Ann. §71-3-3(i) (1972)

- -

. .

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The employer and carrier/appellees do not agree with the Statement of the Issues as recited by the claimant/appellant. As such, it is believed that the instant appeal presents the following issues for review by this Court:

1. Whether the circuit court was correct in its recitation of the standard of review of a decision of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission, as the circuit court judge's apparent definite and firm conviction was that the commission had made a mistake in its findings of fact and application of the Workers' Compensation Act as to the issue of temporary total disability.

2. Whether the order of the circuit court dated October 27, 2011, was correct in the determination that part of the commission's order, dated April 15, 2008, dealing with temporary total disability was not supported by substantial evidence, was arbitrary and capricious and contained errors of law. The circuit court judge considered that no medical evidence supported the award as no physician took the claimant off work and that the date of maximum medical improvement does not mean that the claimant is entitled to temporary total disability for all periods before that date. Although not specifically cited by the circuit court, claimant had admitted that she could not have been back at work due to her non-work-related back restrictions and that she never attempted to return to work for this employer.

3. Whether the order of the circuit court dated October 27, 2011, is correct in determining that part of the commission's order, dated April 15, 2008, dealing with permanent disability was supported by substantial evidence, was not arbitrary and capricious and did not contain any errors of law. The circuit judge considered that the five percent (5%) industrial loss of use was supported by the substantial evidence.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal involves a review of the decision of the Circuit Court of Monroe County, Mississippi, on October 27, 2010, following its review of the decision of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission. After reciting the appropriate standard of review for a decision of the commission, the circuit court concluded that the commission's decision concerning temporary total disability was not supported by substantial evidence, was arbitrary and capricious and contained errors of law and should be reversed, but that the commission's decision concerning causation and concerning permanent partial disability was supported by the substantial evidence. The employer and carrier submit that the circuit court's order regarding the commission's decision is in conformity with the standard of review and is supported by the evidence and the law and must be affirmed by this Honorable Court.

### I. Nature of the Case and Course of Proceedings

This appeal arises out of injuries allegedly sustained while the claimant/appellant, Angela Westbrook Smith (hereinafter sometimes referred to as "employee", "claimant" or "Ms. Smith"), was employed with Kerr-McGee Chemical, LLC at its plant in Hamilton, Mississippi (hereinafter sometimes referred to as "the employer" or "Kerr-McGee" or "Tronox").<sup>1</sup> As a consequence of her alleged injuries, Ms. Smith claims to have sustained a period of temporary total disability, permanent total or permanent partial disability and medical treatment.

Historically, on November 19, 2001, the claimant/appellant filed her Petition to Controvert seeking compensation for injuries to her arms allegedly caused by "repetitive motion of opening

Subsequent to this claim, through mergers and other corporate changes, the company has become Tronox Incorporated. Nevertheless, at the time of this claim, the claimant/appellant worked for Kerr-McGee Chemical, LLC.

large valves and pulling rusty hard to open levers." She alleged a date of injury of the \_\_\_\_\_ day of December, 2000. Claimant had left work in November of 2000 due to non-work-related health conditions. (R. 1)

On December 6, 2001, the employer and carrier/appellee answered the Petition denying an injury and denying that any benefits were due. The employer and carrier further alleged that because no date of injury was specified and no notice of injury received, the alleged injury was unrelated to claimant's employment. If the claimant suffered from any disability or loss of wage earning capacity, it was due to a pre-existing physical handicap, disease or lesion and that such pre-existing infirmity was a material and substantial contributing factor. (R. 3)

On December 22, 2003, claimant filed her Pretrial Memorandum alleging the contested issues were: the amount of claimant's average weekly wage, existence of temporary disability, existence of permanent disability and loss of wage earning capacity. The date of maximum medical improvement was to be determined by medical testimony. Claimant listed Dr. Laura Gray as a witness. Exhibits were listed as pertinent portions of the claimant's personnel file, all relevant "B" forms, wage statement and any attachment to responses to discovery. (R. 22)

The employer and carrier filed its Pretrial Statement on February 18, 2005, listing the issues as: whether a compensable injury occurred, the amount of the claimant's average weekly wage, the existence of temporary disability attributable to the alleged injury, the existence of permanent disability, reasonableness of medical treatment, the statute of limitations and that the claim was limited to carpal tunnel syndrome. (R. 26) Expert witnesses were listed as Drs. Charles Rhea and Johnny Mitias by deposition. Exhibits were noted to be the wage statement, excerpts from medical records and pertinent portions of the claimant's personnel file.

The employer and carrier filed an Amended Pretrial Statement on February 22, 2005. The amendment was to add Dr. Robert Buckley as an expert witness by deposition. (R. 30) An Amended Pretrial Statement of Employer was filed the same date that did not include Dr. Buckley as an expert witness. (R. 34)

On November 15, 2005, the administrative judge dismissed the claim for failure of the parties to schedule trial, as the claim had remained in an "Awaiting Hearing" status for an extended period. (R. 38)

On November 22, 2005, claimant filed a motion to reinstate the claim alleging that it was ready to be heard, but through oversite had not been scheduled for trial. (R. 39)

By order dated December 13, 2005, the claim was reinstated to the controverted docket. (R. 41)

The claim was scheduled for trial on October 31, 2006, in Aberdeen before Judge Tammy Harthcock. (R. 42) Subsequently, trial was continued to January 18, 2007, in Aberdeen. (R. 48) Trial was continued again to June 7, 2007, in Starkville. (R. 51)

Ultimately, trial was held on June 7, 2007, before Judge Harthcock. The issues were agreed to be: whether the claimant had a work-related injury in the form of bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome beginning on or about December 2000; assuming compensability, the existence and extent of temporary disability attributable to claimant's alleged work injuries; and assuming compensability, the existence and extent of permanent disability attributable to claimant's alleged work injuries. The parties stipulated to claimant's average weekly wage of \$845.48 and that she reached maximum medical improvement on October 28, 2003.

Administrative Judge Harthcock entered her order on August 21, 2007. (R. 52) After reciting her review of the lay testimony and medical evidence, she held that claimant had met her

burden of proof that she had work-related bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome. She further held that as to temporary disability, claimant was not taken off work by Dr. Gray for carpal tunnel syndrome. Dr. Gray gave work restrictions, but claimant was already off work due to a back injury. Claimant continued to be off work due to her other unrelated medical conditions. Therefore, claimant would only be entitled to temporary benefits for the time she had surgery by Dr. Buckley, whose records were not admitted into evidence. As to permanent disability, claimant was placed on restrictions of no repetitive use of the hands or wrists and no lifting over 10 pounds by Dr. Gray. The judge noted that claimant was off work due to unrelated medical conditions. She had not attempted to return to work for Kerr-McGee, but had worked for a short time as a substitute bus driver. Based upon the evidence as a whole, including claimant's age, education, work history, job description and medical condition, Judge Harthcock awarded a 5% industrial loss of use to each upper extremity. This award resulted in 20 weeks of benefits at the maximum compensation rate of \$303.35 being due.

\_

On August 27, 2007, claimant petitioned for review by the commissioners. The issue was noted to be a disagreement that the claimant sustained only a 5% industrial loss of use to each upper extremity. (R. 60)

Pursuant to the employer's request, the commission prepared an official calculation of the amount due pursuant to its order, which including penalties and interest was determined to be \$8,686.45. In September of 2007, the employer paid the award as calculated by the commission. A Form B-31 showing all payments made on the claim was submitted to the claimant's attorney, but not received back and hence not filed with the commission.

On April 15, 2008, the Full Commission entered its order. (R. 62) The commissioners affirmed the administrative judge's finding of a 5% industrial loss of use of each arm. The

commissioners amended the administrative judge's finding on the issue of temporary disability. They noted that the claimant underwent surgery for the carpal tunnel syndrome on April 5, 2002, and reached maximum medical improvement on October 28, 2003. Then, based upon those dates, the commissioners found that temporary total disability was due for the period from April 5, 2002 until October 27, 2003.

On May 15, 2008, the employer and carrier filed their notice of appeal to the Circuit Court of Monroe County, Mississippi, seeking reversal of the commission's order. (R. 64) The employer and carrier noted that compensability was contrary to the evidence in that the claimant's job duties, as testified by her and the employer witnesses, was not repetitive and that the finding of temporary total disability being due from the date of surgery to the date of maximum medical improvement ignored the fact that no physician took the claimant off work. The order also ignored that claimant's other medical conditions prevented her from returning to work during the disputed time period and that she had not attempted to return to work with Kerr-McGee. The employer and carrier also asked for the decision to be reversed on any other grounds that the court might determine from its review of the facts and evidence.

On May 20, 2008, the claimant filed her notice of cross-appeal alleging the award of permanent disability was too low and that the claimant was totally disabled. (R. 68)

On October 27, 2010, the circuit court prepared its order regarding the appeal. The same was entered by the clerk on November 1, 2010. (R. 75) In a lengthy opinion wherein the circuit judge acknowledge the limited standard of review, he ultimately held that the commission's decision regarding temporary total disability was not supported by the substantial evidence, was arbitrary and contained errors of law and should be reversed. He also held that the commission's

decision regarding permanent total [partial] disability was supported by the substantial evidence, was not arbitrary and contained no errors of law and should be affirmed.

On November 10, 2010, the claimant/appellant filed her notice of appeal to this Court. She contested the issues of temporary total disability and permanent disability. (R. 82)

### **II. Statement of Relevant Facts**

Claimant testified that she was born on August 6, 1959, and lived in Amory, Mississippi. (T 5) She has a 9th grade formal education and a GED. (T. 6) Claimant was employed at Walmart from 1976 to 1987 as a cashier, department manager and customer service representative. (T. 6, 42) Then, she worked for True Temper for around 6 months with several jobs. (T. 42). She began work with Kerr-McGee in 1989 and described all of her various job duties from the date of hire to her leaving work in November of 2000. (T. 8-12) Claimant testified that her hands started hurting around the first of 2000 or 1999 and that she had not seen a doctor for her hands before that. (T. 14) Claimant ultimately admitted that the pain first began when she was making a birthday cake for her sister in March of 2000. (T. 38) She never requested medical treatment from Kerr-McGee and never discussed her wrists with them. (T. 15) She mentioned her wrists to an assistant of Dr. Eckman while she was being treated for her back. At the time, she was already off work at Kerr-McGee due to her back and other health conditions. A friend of the claimant referred her to Dr Gray. (T. 17) Dr. Gray referred the claimant to Dr. Buckley, who performed surgery on claimant's right wrist in April of 2002. (T. 18 and 20) She had a brain aneurysm and surgery in May of 2001. (T. 22) After her aneurysm, claimant applied for Social Security disability and was awarded the same for which she receives \$1,371.00 per month. (T. 22 and 24) Claimant has worked after November of 2000 as a bus driver. (T. 28) Claimant has a valid driver's license and does drive. (T. 48) Claimant believes she could not work due to her hands, shoulders

and neck hurting. (T. 29) Claimant had no conversations with Dr. Buckley about returning to work. (T. 22) She believes that she could not return to work at Walmart due to her hands and the lifting. (T. 33) Claimant has diabetes, hypertension and back problems. (T. 40) Her restrictions from Dr. Eckman for her back were no bending, climbing or lifting over a certain weight. (T. 40) Claimant admitted that she could not be back at work at her job at Kerr-McGee due to her back restrictions. (T. 41 and 45) She could only be at light duty. (T. 42) Claimant has not attempted to return to work at Kerr-McGee since she left in November of 2000. (T. 44) Claimant's wrists are worse now than when she left Kerr-McGee in November of 2000. (T. 47) Claimant is a smoker, smoking around a pack per day for over 15 years. (T. 53) The medical problems that keep claimant from working at Kerr-McGee are her hands and her back. (T. 54)

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